### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM F. HAPP,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 74,634

NAY 1 1 1630

124

Pa -> ->

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The symbol (R ) refers to the record on appeal in this cause. The symbol (SR) refers to the supplemental record on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 2, 1986, the fall term grand jury, Fifth Circuit, Citrus County, returned an indictment charging William Frederick Happ [Appellant] with the first-degree murder of Angela Crowley on May 24, 1986, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes. The grand jury also indicted Happ on one count of burglary of a conveyance with a battery therein, one count of kidnapping, and one count of sexual battery likely to cause serious personal injury. (R1-2)

Numerous pretrial motions were filed in this cause, only some of which have relevance to the issues raised in this appeal. Happ filed a notice of alibi prior to trial. (R78) Happ also filed a motion to dismiss the indictment or, in the alternative, to declare that death is not a possible penalty based upon the failure of the indictment to allege the applicable aggravating circumstances. (R118-121, 167) Appellant also filed a motion to declare Sections 775.082(1) and 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional based, inter alia, on the unbridled discretion of the prosecution in its decision to seek the death penalty. (R134-39,160-69) These motions were all denied. (R880,937,941-2,968) The court denied the motion to prohibit voir dire of jurors about their feelings on the death penalty. (R951-3) The court denied Appellant's motion to declare the death penalty unconstitutional based on the trial court's lack of discretion as far as sentencing. (R960) The court denied the motion dealing with an attack on aggravating circumstances as

vague and duplicitous. On June 29, 1988, the trial court rendered an order granting Appellant's previously filed motion to change venue from Citrus County to Lake County. (R197)

On December 1, 1988, Happ filed a motion to suppress any and all statements that he made to Investigator Jerry Thompson and Agent John Burton based upon his previous invocation of his right to counsel. (R244-45) Following a hearing on the motion (R984,996-1015), the trial court denied the motion to suppress. (R755,1013) Appellant subsequently filed a motion to rehear the motion to suppress on January 18, 1989. (R393-414) Defense counsel also sought to exclude any fruits thereof. (R1019,1021-2) The trial court granted rehearing and, after hearing further evidence and argument, denied the motion. (R457-8,1029-A1-41,64-5)

Appellant filed several motions <u>in limine</u> in an attempt to restrict objectionable evidence offered by the state. (R79-82,122-25,148-51) The trial court granted many aspects of these motions. (R192-4) One aspect of the trial court's order <u>in</u> <u>limine</u> prohibited the state from conveying to the jury, either directly or indirectly, Happ's prior criminal record except for proper impeachment purposes. (R192)

The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable John Thurman on January 9, 1989. (R712-A1-457) The prosecutor violated the order <u>in limine</u> during cross-examination of the last defense witness. (R487-9) The trial judge granted Appellant's motion for mistrial, finding that the prosecutor intentionally

provoked the mistrial. Judge Thurman began contempt proceedings against the prosecutor, but that threat subsequently dissipated, and Judge Thurman recused himself pursuant to the state's motion. (R491-535,582-3,678-703) After Thurman's recusal, the case was assigned to Judge Lockett. (R1307) Five days after the mistrial, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss contending that retrial was barred based on double jeopardy. (R586-91,633-9,1309-14) Judge Lockett denied Happ's motion to dismiss following a hearing on February 7, 1989. (R592,631,652-823) Happ then unsuccessfully sought a writ of prohibition in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R677,828,844-47) Happ v. Lockett, 543 So.2d 1281 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

Prior to the retrial, Judge Lockett reviewed all motions previously heard and adopted most of Judge Thurman's rulings. (R875,878-82,2200-01;SR1-51) Judge Lockett also granted the state's motion <u>in limine</u> to prohibit defense counsel from referring to state witnesses by names such as "snitches" or "squealers." (R1423-4) The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Jerry T. Lockett on July 24, 1989. (R1036,1406-2497) During jury selection, Appellant objected to the state's use of a peremptory challenge to excuse a black juror. The trial court ultimately accepted the prosecutor's stated reasons for the challenge. (R1576-80)

Prior to the introduction of Richard Miller's prior testimony at the retrial, Appellant objected to the reading of Miller's proffered testimony (taken that morning) concerning his

reasons for refusing to testify at Happ's second trial. The trial court overruled the objection and allowed the reading of Miller's proffer. (R1708-24,1868-1927)

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal based upon the insufficiency of the evidence as well as an argument dealing with double jeopardy. (R2211-14) After the trial court denied the motion, Appellant presented his case-in-chief. (R2214-2303) Appellant sought to present the testimony of Hugh Lee. Following a proffer, the trial court ruled that the evidence had insufficient probative value and excluded the evidence. (R2191-99) After presenting other evidence, Appellant renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court again denied. (R2343) The state presented one witness in rebuttal. (R2346-52) Defense counsel again renewed his motion and the trial court again denied it. During closing argument by defense counsel, the trial court commented on the evidence. (R2414-15)

During deliberations, the jury returned with two questions. (R1109-10,2383-4) The trial court denied defense counsel's request to reread certain testimony or, in the alternative, to answer the question. The trial court instructed the jury that they must rely on their own recollection. (R2484-6) Following further deliberations, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged on all counts. (R1105-8,2486,2490-2)

The trial court conducted a penalty phase on July 31, 1989. (R2498-2593) The trial court excluded probative evidence

that Happ proffered at the penalty phase. (R98-99,2517-19) Following deliberations, the jury returned with the recommendation (9-3) that the trial court sentence Happ to death. (R1140,1380) A sentencing guidelines scoresheet resulted in a recommended life sentence. (R1157) The trial court departed from the guidelines, sentencing Happ to three consecutive life sentences all consecutive to the death sentence that the court imposed for the murder. The trial court rendered written reasons in support of the departure. In the written findings of fact in support of the death sentence, the trial court listed four aggravating circumstances and three mitigating circumstances. (R1149-66,1383-92)

Appellant filed his notice of appeal on September 22, 1989. (R1375) This Court has mandatory jurisdiction. Art. V, s.3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Saturday, May 24, 1986, a fisherman found the partially clad body of a woman on the bank of the Cross Florida Barge Canal in northwest Citrus County. (R1733-48, 1762-64) The woman's shoulders were covered by a tee shirt that was pulled up to her underarms. (R1762-4) A pair of stretch pants were tied tightly around her neck. (R1766-70) She wore several gold rings, a necklace, and a watch. (R1770-72) Law enforcement responded to the scene and transported the body to the morgue. (R1744-49,1772)

Police conducted a brief search of the area that was curtailed due to nightfall. (R1772) Police resumed the search the following morning and found a tennis shoe and a pair of women's underwear near the water's edge. (R1778-85) Police found the mate to the shoe on the nearby roadway. (R1775-78,1787-88) Scuffmarks on the heels of the shoes, coupled with abrasions found on the woman's back, led police to the conclusion that her body had been dragged along the bank of the canal. (R1765,1784-The fact that they found leaves and sticks on top of the 86) body indicated that it had previously been in the water. (R1765) A subsequent autopsy revealed that the victim had suffered multiple blows to the face and head prior to being strangled to death. The doctor opined that, from the commencement of strangulation, Crowley would have been rendered unconscious within two minutes and dead in another two to three minutes. (R1969-70) The medical examiner testified that the woman had engaged in anal intercourse shortly before or at the time of her

# demise. (R1950-70)

Subsequent investigation identified the dead woman as Angela Crowley, a twenty-one-year old white female from Fort Lauderdale. (R1801-04,1835-38,1842-43) Crowley left her apartment between 6:30 and 7:30, Friday night, May 23, 1986. Crowley intended to drive to Citrus County that night to visit her friend Dawn Selders in Yankeetown. (R1801-10,1817,1823-26,1830-39) Selders planned to meet Crowley in Crystal River and lead her to Selders' home. (R1838-39) Crowley phoned Selders about 6:30 shortly before leaving Fort Lauderdale. (R1839) Selders fell asleep later that evening but was awakened by Crowley's phone call at 12:36 Saturday morning. (R1839-40) Crowley reported that she had mistakenly ended up in Wildwood and would be later than previously expected. Crowley said she would call Selders again once she arrived in Crystal River. (R1840-41) When Selders woke up the next morning, she realized that Crowley had never called back. Selders became concerned and phoned Crowley's roommate and, after some discussion, Selders notified the authorities. (R1816,1841) Late Saturday night, Selders identified the body found at the canal as Angela Crowley. (R1841-42,1850-51)

Starting at the turnpike toll plaza in Wildwood where Crowley phoned Selders, Investigator Jerry Thompson of the Citrus County Sheriff's Department, attempted to retrace her route. (R1840,1845-53,1857-8) Thompson asked the toll attendants if they remembered Crowley coming through that night. Thompson

followed State Road 44 into Crystal River, stopping to inquire at various convenience stores and businesses along the way. (R1852-53) Thompson's investigation was not fruitful. He arrived in Crystal River at about the same time that Crowley should have arrived if she did not get lost again. (R1857-9). Thompson began looking for prominent phone booths accessible from the highway. (R1853-54) He found what he was looking for at the Cumberland Farms store in Crystal River. The store was closed at that time of night. Thompson noticed a group of newspaper carriers who were folding their wares in the Sun Market parking lot across the street from the store. (R1854-55) The carriers told Thompson that they had seen an altercation at the Cumberland Farms store on Friday night, May 23, during the early morning hours of May 24. (R1855) The carriers told Thompson that they noticed a small car and heard a woman scream at approximately 2:40 a.m. (R1859)

Barbara Messer, district manager for the St. Petersburg Times circulation department, pulled into the Sun Market on May 24, 1986, at approximately 2:40 a.m. As she got out of her car, the group of paper boys was looking in the direction of the Cumberland Farms Store across the street. (R2253-55) In response to Messer's question, the carriers told her they had heard a girl scream across the street. Messer saw a car parked in the Cumberland Farms parking lot in a position indicating that the car had pulled off the highway. (R2256) She saw a white male between 19 and 23 years of age shuffling around the car. She watched as he appeared to pick up something outside the car near

the open passenger's door and throw it into the car. (R2256-57) He then came around the back of the car as if he were going to the driver's side. (R2257) When he got to the back of the car, he put both hands in the middle of the hatchback, leaned forward, and pushed. He then came back around to the passenger's side, got into the car, and closed the door. (R2257-8) As he was closing the door, the car pulled out of the parking lot and drove away. Messer testified that someone else had to have been driving, as the man would not have been able to slide across the seat and drive away in that short a time. (R2259) Messer described the man as approximatley six feet tall, weighing about 170 pounds, wearing cut-off blue jean shorts, flip-flops, and no shirt. (R2259-60) He appeared to have light brown hair that had been bleached from the sun. (R2260) His hair came down to his collar and he had no facial hair. (R2260-61) Messer testified that the man she saw that night was not Bill Happ.

The police found Crowley's car Sunday morning, May 25, parked at Jones' Restaurant on U.S. 19 approximately six-tenths of a mile south of the Cumberland Farms store. (R1856-57) A waitress noticed the car when she arrived for work at 3:30 a.m. Sunday. It had not been there on Saturday afternoon. (R1427-30) The keys were still in the ignition. (R1861-2) The window on the driver's side was completely broken out. Police found a large amount of broken glass inside the car but very little outside. (R2111) This led Sergeant Strickland to believe that the window had been broken at another location. Sergeant Strickland went to

the Cumberland Farms store and found broken glass near the phone booth. (R2014-16) Police also found a small amount of glass in the vicinity where Crowley's body was found. (R2019-24) The broken glass collected from inside the car, from the store, from the restaurant parking lot, and from the barge canal were consistent with having originated from Crowley's car window. All of the samples had the same greenish tint, all were float glass, all were tempered, all had the same thickness, and all displayed the same dispersion and density. While all of the glass samples could have come from the same source, there was no way to prove that theory. (R2067-74)

Sergeant Strickland noticed a shoe print in the lime rock of the restaurant's parking lot next to Crowley's car. (R1932,2006-8) Its location and surrounding circumstances led Strickland to believe that the print could have been made by someone getting out of Crowley's car. (R2006-11) A crime lab analyst who testified for the state could only conclude that the print could have been made by a shoe that was obtained from the Appellant approximately five months after the crime. (R2103-6,2111-20)

Crime lab analysts thoroughly examined Crowley's car. (R2127-35) They found no fingerprints inside the car. (R2129-31) This could have been due to the types of surgaces found in cars' interiors. (R2130-1) On the outside of the right door post, they found a latent that matched Appellant's left middle finger. (R2132-34,2147-51,2160-71) Another latent found on the outside

of the driver's door matched Appellant's left thumb. A latent palm print lifted from the outer surface of the back window of Crowley's hatchback matched Appellant's palm print. (R2136-43,2171) This print was covered by the dust from the Jones' Restaurant parking lot. (R2139-41) The FBI fingerprint specialist examined fourteen other latent prints lifted in this case and eleven photographs of other latent impressions. The specialist compared these and several other prints found to the full case prints of Crowley and Appellant. Although the prints found were of a good quality, the specialist determined that none of these other prints matched either Crowley or Happ. (R2172-74)

Bill Happ came to Crystal River and moved in with Edna Peckham, his great aunt and her husband around the middle of March, 1986. (R2266-67) Peckham had moved to Crystal River in 1980 with her husband, who suffered from Alzheimer's disease and cancer and eventually died in 1987. (R2266-68) Mr. Peckham had suffered a stroke in 1981 which left him bedridden and unable to talk. (R2269) Mrs. Peckham testified that on Friday, May 23, 1986, Bill Happ came home for dinner around 5 or 6 p.m. and stayed home all that night. (R2269-70) As usual, Mrs. Peckham repeatedly checked on her husband throughout the night. She would have noticed if Bill had left during the night. (R2271) Peckham remembered that weekend because it was the first weekend after she had taken the truck away from Bill Happ. Bill was no longer working, so Mrs. Peckham decided to sell the truck.

(R2272) On May 22, 1986, Mrs. Peckham took the truck to be serviced and kept the receipt to show potential buyers. (R2272-75) Without a truck, Bill Happ only stayed out late one night (a Saturday) before leaving the Peckham home and returning to Pennsylvania on May 30, 1986. (R2275-79) Mrs. Peckham's phone bill revealed that Bill Happ phoned Pennsylvania from the Peckham home at 8:12 a.m. on Saturday, May 24, 1986. (R2278-81,2295)

Vincent Ambrosino also lived in Crystal River with his mother. (R2079-80) Ambrosino began working at McDonald's on May 21, 1986. (R2082) Ambrosino met Bill Happ in April at a local bowling alley. They became friends and saw each other daily. (R2082-3) Happ was unable to pick up Ambrosino following his first day of work. Edna Peckham had taken the truck away from Bill, so Happ appeared on foot. (R2083-4) They spent that Wednesday afternoon playing pool at the bowling alley, before going their separate ways that night. (R2383-4) They also saw each other on Thursday. At trial, Ambrosino testified that Happ spent Thursday night at Vince's house in spite of Vince's stepfather's objections. (R2084-6) Vince was very unsure which night Happ spent at his house. On three other occasions, vince testified that Happ spent Friday night at his house. (R2089-93,2097-8) On Friday, May 23, 1986, Happ and Ambrosino again went to the bowling alley. They left the alley at approximately 11:00 that night. (R2086) Vince last saw Happ heading towards his aunt's home. (R2086-7) Vince saw Bill the next morning, Saturday, May 24, at approximately 9:00. (R2087-8) Ambrosino

thought that Happ's right hand looked swollen that morning. (R2088) Happ explained that, during his walk home the previous evening, he became angry with his aunt for taking his truck away. He lost his temper and punched a tree. (R2088-9) On those three occasions, Vince also indicated that he saw Happ on Sunday morning with a swollen right hand. (R2089-93,2097-8) Police first suspected that Happ might have had something to do with the murder in August, 1986. (R2099-2100) Investigator Thompson visited Happ in Santa Clara County, California, where they obtained a pair of tennis shoes from Happ. (R2103-6) Investigator Thompson eventually returned to California on October 10, 1986. (R2205-6) Thompson showed Happ the photographs of Crowley and her car. (R2206) In response to a question, Happ told Thompson that the car did not look familiar. Happ also told Thompson that there was no reason that his fingerprints would be <u>inside</u> Crowley's car. (R2209-10)

Happ was eventually arrested and charged with the murder of Angela Crowley, he was housed in the Citrus County Jail after his transfer from California. (R2076-7) Tony Domino booked Happ at the Citrus County jail on February 3, 1987. (R2076) Happ shared a cell with Richard Miller. (R1876-78,2077-8)

Miller, a man doing sixty years in prison for eight felony convictions (including two violent sexual batteries), refused to be deposed on two previous ocassions before finally agreeing on the morning of Happ's first trial. (R1883-8,1907-8,1915-18) In exchange for his testimony, Miller received a

written contract, signed by the prosecutor in Happ's case, guaranteeing him protection in addition to a transfer out of state closer to his ailing family. (R1891,1899,1918-22) Miller initially read about Happ's case in the newspaper. (R1891) Miller's mother contacted the Federal Bureau of Investigation and arranged for Miller to provide information in another unrelated case. (R1892) In a meeting with Investigator Jerry Thompson on that unrelated case, Miller, in response to a question, alleged that he could provide information about Happ's case. (R1894) Miller admitted that he suffered from dyslexia, a learning disability that affected his ability to read, see, and hear. (R1888,1910)

Miller testified that he befriended Happ in jail and they began to talk about their respective cases. Happ allegedly told Miller that he abducted a woman in a parking lot in Citrus County. Miller was unable to tell the jury what type of parking lot or what time of day this occurred. (R1878-9) Miller said that Happ "snuck up on the car and choked her out, put her in the car she was getting in." (R1879) Miller did not know if the woman was dead at that point. (R1880) Happ mentioned some broken glass but never told Miller how that happened. (R1880) Happ then told Miller that he took the woman to the Cross Florida Barge Canal where he had anal intercourse and engaged in fellatio with the woman. (R1880-1) Happ told Miller that throughout the episode, he nibbled on her neck. (R1881) Miller testified that Happ beat the woman repeatedly but was unable to say how or where

this occurred. (R1881) He also testified that Happ strangled the woman to death with an article of clothing, but was unable to be more specific. (R1881) Miller claimed that Happ related that the woman defecated as he strangled her. Miller also claimed that Happ threw the woman's body into the canal. (R1882)

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