IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM FREDERICK HAPP,

Appe	11	ant	,
			•

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

to infer that strangulation perpetrated upon a conscious victim involves foreknowledge of death, extreme anxiety and fear, and this method of killing is one to which the factor of heinousness is applicable. <u>Id</u>. at 421. In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1985), the victim escaped but was caught and strangled. <u>See also Mendyk v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989) (kidnapped, abused and toyed with victim); <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986) (strangled and stabbed three times); <u>Deaton v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1985) (abducted and strangled victim who pleaded for life); <u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984); <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1984); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982); <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1985); <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984); <u>Stevens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981).

Appellant cites <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1988), for the theory that heinous, atrocious is inapplicable because the victim may have been unconscious. On the contrary, there is no evidence to support this theory. The medical examiner said the victim was still alive during the beating of 10-20 extremely hard blows. The examiner said the appellant was trying to knock the victim comatose (R 1960-61, 1967-68). There were bruises on her right elbow and left wrist, indicating struggle (R 1964). She was anally raped prior to her death (R 1965). He also testified the victim would have been comatose after the strangling (R 1969). A person would defecate when he just died (R 1971). Miller testified that the victim was forced

- 39 -

to submit to fellatio <u>after</u> they arrived at the barge canal (R 1880) and defecating when strangled (R 1882). In the present case, the victim was not only strangled, but also was abducted and sexually assaulted. <u>See Mendyk v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989); <u>See also Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983) regarding being forced to submit to sexual relations while pleading for life. Even if any aggravating factor(s) were stricken, it would not change the sentence where there are four valid aggravating factors weighed against three weak mitigating factors. <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987). <u>See</u> <u>Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 110 S.Ct. 1441 (1990). This crime is clearly one of those for which the death penalty is deserved. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

### POINT XI

## THE SENTENCE OF DEATH IS PROPORTIONATE.

The trial court found four aggravating factors, one statutory mitigating factor (age) and two nonstatutory mitigating factors (family history and educational aid to inmates). The court's factual findings included:

1) The defendant abducted the victim from a deserted parking lot by obtaining control of the victim and her car by force. Thereafter, the defendant drove the victim to a remote location where the defendant sodomized, battered and strangled the victim;

 The victim was sexually battered immediately prior to her death; 3) The victim died as a result of strangulation; however, death was not immediate. The evidence shows that the victim died after being slowly strangled with her own pants. While being strangled, the victim was conscious for at least two minutes and undoubtedly terrified at the realization she was going to die;

4) Immediately prior to her death the victim was savagely beaten about the head to the extent her brain was bruised. (R 1165).

only two valid Happ contends that this court has aggravating factors to weigh against three mitigating factors, assuming this court will strike two aggravating factors. In actuality, there are four valid aggravating factors weighed against three weak mitigating factors. Happ was twenty-four years of age at the time of the offense. Although the judge considered this in mitigation, the age of twenty-four has little See Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986) weight. (twenty-three years old is not a mitigating factor); Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986) (twenty years old was not mitigating); Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985) (twenty-The other two mitigating factors are also two years old). entitled to little weight.

In any case, proportionality review involves considering the totality of the circumstances in a case and comparing the case to other capital cases. It is not a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. <u>Porter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S353 (Fla. June 14, 1990). Comparing this case to other capital cases, the death sentence is appropriate.

- 41 -

<u>Randolph v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S271 (Fla. May 3, 1990); <u>Rivera v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S235 (Fla. April 19, 1990); <u>Rutherford v. State</u>,
545 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1989); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla.
1988); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1981); <u>Hildwin v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 531 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1988); <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 497 So.2d
863 (Fla. 1986); <u>Deaton v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1985);
<u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984); <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 419
So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982).

The cases cited by appellant are inapposite. The evidence in <u>Proffitt v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987) revealed that the defendant, while burglarizing a house, killed an occupant with one stab wound to the chest while the victim was lying in bed. Proffitt had no prior convictions, was nonviolent and happily married. He had been drinking, did not possess a weapon when he entered the premises, and did not injure the victim's wife. He voluntarily surrendered to the authorities after the offense.

<u>Wilson v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1986), involved a violent domestic dispute during which the defendant killed his cousin with scissors and his father with a gun after his father told his mother to go get the gun. This court found it significant that the murder of the father was the result of a heated domestic confrontation. The murder of the cousin was reduced to second degree because there was insufficient evidence of premeditation.

Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985), involved an angry domestic dispute. Ross had drinking problems and no prior history of violence. <u>Caruthers v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla.

- 42 -

1985), involved the murder of a convenience store clerk who jumped the defendant who "just started firing." In Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1984), the defendant hit the elderly victim over the head with a club and took money from the cash This court struck three of four aggravating factors, register. observed that the defendant introduced substantial mitigation, and found the death penalty unwarranted as compared to other In Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982), capital cases. this court had remanded for the trial court to weigh the one mitigating remaining aggravating circumstance against the circumstance of no criminal history. The defense presented additional mitigating evidence at resentencing. This court held that the facts of this felony murder (defendant shot jeweler during robbery) did not call for the death penalty. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981) was a jury override case in which there were nonstatutory mitigating factors on which the jury could base its recommendation of life. In Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975), the defendant murdered the victim as a result of a violent rage after learning the victim had beaten his wife, with whom the defendant had an illicit relationship. The defendant was a highly decorated Green Beret in Vietnam under emotional strain.

The present case is not a domestic case nor were there mitigating factors comparable to those in the cases cited by the appellant. Considering the totality of the circumstances, the present case is one of the most aggravated and least mitigated crimes imaginable. <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (1973).

- 43 -

## POINT XII

HAPP WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

## A. Motion for judgment of acquittal

Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal on the basis of double jeopardy and because the state had not proved a prima facie case, even including the testimony of Miller (R 2212-13). Happ now argues that this court should ignore the testimony of Miller and find the evidence insufficient. The credibility of the witnesses is for the jury to determine. Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1981); Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975). In Carter v. State, 15 F.L.W. S255 (Fla. April 26, 1990), the court rejected a claim that a co-defendant's testimony was too unbelievable to be reliable, stating that the issue was one of credibility for the jury to determine. Absent a clear showing of error its findings will not be disturbed. Jent, supra. This is not a circumstantial evidence case, but even if it were there is no reasonable hypothesis of innocence. See Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984). Even in a circumstantial case, the state is not required to rebut every possible variation of events that could be inferred; rather, it must only introduce evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's version to overcome a directed verdict motion. State v. Law, 14 F.L.W. 387 (Fla. July 27, 1989); Demurjian v. State, 557 So.2d 642 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

There was sufficient evidence to convict Happ. The state introduced evidence of proximity, a shoe print, fingerprints, swollen hand, prior breaking of car window with a fist, and admissions to Miller. The jury could also infer anger over female dominance since Happ's aunt took his car away shortly before he abducted the victim in her own car, and his girlfriend jilted him.

## B. Photographs of victim

The photographs complained of were relevant to the victim's identity and condition. The law is clear that the trial court has discretion, absent abuse, to admit relevant photographic evidence. Thompson v. State, 15 F.L.W. S347 (Fla. 1990); Jackson v. State, 545 So.2d 260, 265 (Fla. 1989); Patterson v. State, 513 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1987). This court has repeatedly held that photographs are admissible if relevant to any issue involved in the case. Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985); Wilson v. State, 436 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1983); Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850, 853 (Fla. 1982).

The photos were selected from photos which may have been even more gruesome. In fact, the judge did not allow the state to introduce the autopsy photos which he felt were not appropriate (R 1948). The photos were relevant to the nature and extent of the injuries, the manner of death and the nature of force and violence used. <u>Wilson, supra</u> at 910. In <u>Henderson</u>, this court stated:

> ...Persons accused of crimes can generally expect that any relevant evidence against them will be presented in court. The test of admissibility is relevancy. Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 182, 74 L.Ed.2d 148 (1982); Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1022, 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d 417 (1981). Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect

confronted by photographs of to be their accomplishments. The photographs were relevant to show the location of the victims' bodies, the amount of time that had passed from when the victims were murdered to when their bodies were found, and the manner in which they were clothed, bound and gagged. It is not to be presumed that gruesome photographs will so inflame the jury that they will find the accused guilty in the absence of evidence of guilt. Rather, we presume that jurors are guided by logic and thus are aware that pictures of the murdered victims do not alone prove the guilt of the accused. We therefore conclude there was no error in allowing the photographs into evidence. Aldridge v. State, 351 So.2d 942 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 882, 99 S.Ct. 220, 58 L.Ed.2d 194 (1978); Jackson v. State, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978); cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1102, 99 S.Ct. 881, 59 L.Ed.2d 63 (1979); Swan v. State, 322 So.2d 485 (Fla. 1975).

Henderson, 463 So.2d at 200.

#### C. Comment on defendant's right to remain silent

Happ contends that the prosecutor commented on his right to remain silent when he said there was "no explanation why William Happ.... "Not only was this not even a complete sentence, but there is no way to infer this was a comment on Happ's silence. We don't even know what the prosecutor was going to say. This comment was not fairly susceptible of being a comment on silence. See State v. Rowell, 476 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1985); Valli v. State, 474 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1985); McKay v. State, 504 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Even if this could be inferred as a comment on Happ's right to remain silent, it was harmless error. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). In McCain v. State, 480 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the prosecutor twice referred to the defendant's failure to testify. This was harmless error. In Budd v. State, 477 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the prosecutor

said the state's case was unrefuted. The court found the remarks not sufficiently direct and egregious to nullify the entire trial. In Knox v. State, 521 So.2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the prosecutor's remark that the jury could consider that nothing contradicted the sheriff's testimony was harmless error. See also, Domberg v. State, 518 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); State v. Lowry, 498 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1986). Reversal of a conviction is warranted only where the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230, 232 (Fla. 1979); State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). The complained of comment in the present case was not a comment on the right to silence and even if it were, any error was harmless. D. Prosecutorial comments

Happ argues that the prosecutor made improper comments in closing argument. The first instance was when the prosecutor supposedly accused defense counsel of trickery (R 2364-65). There was no objection to this argument and this issue is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Furthermore, the argument was a proper comment on the evidence. Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury; logical inferences may be drawn and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982).

The other instance of prosecutorial conduct Happ complains of was that the prosecutor misstated a defense argument (R 2426). The court instructed the jury that what the prosecutor said was not evidence (R 2427). Defense counsel did not move for a

- 47 -

mistrial, so the only conclusion is that he felt the instruction cured any error. <u>See Buenoano v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 194, 198 (Fla. 1988). Any right to a mistrial was not preserved. <u>Ferguson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982). None of the alleged errors, either alone or cumulatively denied Happ a fair trial.

## POINT XIII

THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

This argument is presented virtually word for word in every brief, and consistently rejected by the court. Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989); Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). Most of the alleged constitutional infirmities raised on appeal were not raised at the trial court level and are procedurally barred. Ventura v. State, 15 F.L.W. S190 (Fla. April 5, 1990); Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988). Trial defense counsel raised the constitutionality of 921.141, alleging that the aggravating circumstances are vague and overbroad, the mitigating circumstances are limited, and the death penalty is unjustified and applied unconstitutionally. (R 134-139, 160-161). Those issues which are not procedurally barred have been rejected. Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

This court's recent opinions indicate that this court continues to reject constitutionality arguments. <u>Carter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 14 F.L.W. 525 (Fla. Oct. 19, 1989); <u>Bouie v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S188 (Fla. April 5, 1990); <u>Ventura v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S190 (Fla. April 5, 1990); <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S271
(Fla. May 3, 1990).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully prays this honorable court affirm the judgment and sentence in all respects.